IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

DOCKET No. 23-0513

SCA EFiled: Dec 08 2023  
09:43PM EST  
Transaction ID 71586630

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,  
Respondent,

v.

TINA M. FRYMYER,  
Petitioner.

Appeal from Final Order  
Gilmer County Circuit Court  
Case Number 22-F-8

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted,

Petitioner,  
By Counsel

/s/ Timothy V. Gentilozzi  
Timothy V. Gentilozzi  
WVBAR ID NO. 10086  
Gentilozzi & Associates  
547 W. Pike St.  
Clarksburg, WV 26301  
Telephone: (304) 669-5826  
Facsimile: (304) 626-2030  
akromarbles@yahoo.com

## II.

### IV. Issues Presented and Standard of Review

1. Whether the Petitioner, Tina Frymyer, was deprived of a fair trial due to juror misconduct, as prohibited by Sixth and Fourteenth the United States Constitution and established in Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227 (1954) and United States v. Resko, 3 F.3d 684 (3d Cir. 1993).
2. Whether the role of the prosecutor and clerk in the alleged juror misconduct violated the ethical standards of legal practice and subsequently impacted the fairness of the trial, as discussed in Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209 (1982)
3. Whether the judge erred by refusing to order an investigation into the allegations of juror prosecutor and clerk misconduct and whether he erred in forbidding Petitioner's

counsel to question specific jurors about recently discovered inconsistencies in their answers during voir dire and alleged behavior during trial.

4. Whether the cumulative impact of these irregularities warrants a reversal of the Circuit Court's denial to set aside the verdict and dismiss all charges against the Defendant-Petitioner, Tina Frymyer.

#### Standard of Review

'In reviewing challenges to findings and rulings made by a circuit court, we apply a two-pronged deferential standard of review. We review the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and we review the circuit court's underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review.'

Syllabus Point 3, State v. Vance, 207 W. Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 4

Syl. Pt. 1, Phares v. Brooks, 214 W. Va. 442, 590 S.E.2d 370, 371 (2003). See Syl. Pt. 3, Human Rights Coram, v. Tenpin Lounge, Inc., 158 W. Va. 349, 350, 211 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1975) ("If it be determined that a juror falsely answered a question on *voir dire* examination, whether or not a new trial should be awarded is within the sound discretion of the trial court.") With this standard of review to guide us, we proceed to address the allegations raised in this appeal. See State v. Hutchinson, 215 W. Va. 313, 319, 599 S.E.2d 736, 742(2004) ("In determining whether there has been an abuse of discretion, we must evaluate each case on its own facts." (citations omitted)).

## **VI. Statement of the Case**

### ***A. Factual Background***

Tina Frymyer, the Defendant-Petitioner, was charged with fraudulent schemes in the Circuit Court of Gilmer County by way of indictment. She was alleged to have taken a foster child from DHHR and then placed the child in the care of another individual, Brandy Sims, for approximately 5-6 months. The allegation is that Ms. Frymyer did not forward the funds she was receiving for the care of the child to Ms. Sims but used them for her own living expenses. The trial commenced on February 17, 2023, and concluded on the same day, with a guilty verdict. The Defendant-Petitioner was sentenced to prison for 1 to 10 years then the sentence was suspended for six years probation and ordered to pay restitution. This appeal comes from conduct that was observed during the trial and evidenced gathered post trial that indicate at least one juror, circuit clerk and prosecutorial engaged in misconduct that resulted in an unfair jury trial. Additionally, Petitioner is alleging the trial judge refused to investigate when asked and made unfair judicial rulings post trial in an apparent attempt to limit Petitioner's ability to discover the depth of misconduct involved amongst the parties.

### ***B. Procedural History***

The Defendant-Petitioner filed a timely motion for to set aside the verdict and dismiss the indictment based on misconduct by at least one juror, the circuit clerk and prosecutor which was discovered post-trial. The Circuit Court denied the post trial motion on July 6, 2023, prompting the Defendant-Petitioner to appeal to this Court and contest the validity of the trial and its resulting verdict.

The issues in this appeal center on allegations of juror misconduct including the prosecutor's and clerk's role in the misconduct. These allegations, if substantiated, not only question the integrity of the criminal justice system in Gilmer County but also put the fairness of the Defendant-Petitioner's trial in serious doubt as well as the justification for making her go through a second trial.

## ***VII. Summary of Argument***

This appeal seeks to address and rectify significant concerns related to the trial process that resulted in the guilty verdict against Defendant-Petitioner, Tina Frymyer. Petitioner contends that the Circuit Court erred in denying the motion to set aside the verdict and dismiss the

indictment given the compelling evidence of juror misconduct and the prosecutor's and Clerk's involvement in this misconduct. Each of these elements individually and collectively compromised the fairness of the trial, and therefore, necessitated its review and likely reversal including outright dismissal of the indictment due to its egregious nature as the mistrial was brought on not only by juror misconduct, but prosecutorial and clerk misconduct as well. Petitioner is asserting that the rulings promulgated by the Court were biased in order to shield further discovery and protect the alleged wrongdoers.

Firstly, the role of jurors is to be impartial arbiters. In this case, there is substantial evidence to indicate that at least one juror was compromised, thereby putting the entire verdict into question. Legal precedents such as United States v. Resko clearly delineate how juror misconduct can be grounds for a new trial.

Secondly, the involvement of the prosecutor and clerk in the alleged juror misconduct further clouds the integrity of the trial and provides grounds to have the verdict set aside and the indictment dismissed with prejudice due to double jeopardy. Established case law provides a methodology for evaluating a case when a prosecutor is implicated in misconduct.

Lastly, the circuit clerk's involvement in the juror misconduct has the potential to have biased the proceedings significantly since her sister ended up being a juror in the trial and she allowed her to lie during voir dire to escape the scrutiny that would have come with full disclosure.

Considering these serious concerns, this appeal aims to scrutinize the validity of the original trial and argues for the verdict to be set aside and the indictment dismissed to uphold the sanctity and fairness of the criminal justice system, and buttress or establish case law in the State of West Virginia when dismissal of an indictment is appropriate due to juror, prosecutor or clerk misconduct.

## **VIII. Argument**

### ***A. Juror Misconduct Invalidates the Verdict***

The integrity of the jury is a cornerstone of the American judicial system. In this case, substantial evidence suggests that at least one juror was compromised, thereby putting the validity of the entire verdict into question. Juror misconduct violates a defendant's right to a fair trial and should not be taken lightly. The Supreme Court ruling in Remmer v. United States emphasizes that any extraneous influence on the jury should be presumed prejudicial. The case

dictates that it is the prosecution's burden to prove that such misconduct did not impact the verdict, which in this case they have failed to do. Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227 (1954)

Juror Carrie Collins, the sister of Gilmer County Circuit Clerk Pam Starsick, failed to disclose close relationships she had to almost every witness in the case. The list of witnesses to be called by the parties included the arresting officer, WV Trooper R.P. Smith, DHHR Worker Jennifer Godfrey, and Brandy Sims, the caregiver for the infant placed in Petitioner's care. It was Brandy Sims who didn't receive the money provided by the DHHR to Petitioner for the infant's care and thus a quasi victim in the matter.

Juror Carrie Collins did not acknowledge being close personal friends with any of the witnesses listed above when questioned by the Court and counsel in voir dire. (App Pg 10 Line 21- Pg 11 Line 17) Counsel for Petitioner noticed that Juror Collins was acting out during the trial by communicating non verbally with both the Gilmer County Prosecuting Attorney, Gerry Hough, and Gilmer County Circuit Clerk, Pam Starsick, as evidenced by a letter counsel sent to Judge Alsop post trial on 2/18/23. Additionally, Counsel was able to piece together these relationships from Facebook searches conducted post trial and discovered they were not disclosed during voir dire by Juror Carrie Collins. That information was included in the letter to the judge as well. (App Pg 24-27)

Juror Carrie Collins apparently was close enough friends with arresting officer R.P. Smith that she shared photos of their children together at sporting events on Facebook. (App Pg 60-61) Arresting officer R.P. Smith testified post trial that their children most likely participated in sports over the years and he may have been their coach but wasn't sure because "I've coached a lot of kids in this county." Trooper Smith acknowledged that he knew Carrie Collins and worked with her brother in law Trooper Starsick, the husband to her sister, Pam Starsick, even though Trooper Starsick was stationed out of the Wood County detachment at the time these events occurred. (App Pg 128 Ln 11 - Pg 134 Ln 24)

Juror Carrie Collins knew witness Jennifer Godfrey the DHHR worker involved in the case because Juror Carrie Collins used to work at the DHHR with Jennifer Godfrey but failed to disclose any of this on voir dire. (App Pg 58-59, Pg 125 Ln 22 – Pg 126 Ln 18, Pg 160 Ln 20 – Pg 164 Ln 22)

Juror Carrie Collins was personal friends with witness Brandy Sims as well but failed to disclose it. Brandy Sims is the quasi victim who cared for the foster child but didn't receive any of the funds sent to Petitioner. Its apparent that Juror Carrie Collins and Brandy Sims' friendship goes back to childhood as Brandy Sims indicated that Juror Carrie Collins taught her in school between the ages of 5 and 6, and their families were friends only living miles apart. Additionally, Juror Carrie Collins and Brandy Sims are friends on Facebook with each of them

"liking" and "loving" photos posted by each other periodically over the years with the most recent one being less than 10 days before the trial. (App Pg 41-57, 72) (App pg 138 Ln 3 – pg 154 Ln 4)

It is axiomatic that a criminal defendant has a fundamental and constitutional right to trial by an impartial and objective jury. U.S. Constitution Amend VI

The right to a trial by an impartial, objective jury in a criminal case is a fundamental right guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14, of the West Virginia Constitution. A meaningful and effective voir dire of the jury panel is necessary to effectuate that fundamental right.

Indeed, "a criminal defendant is entitled to insist upon a jury `composed of persons who have no interest in the case, have neither formed nor expressed any opinion, who are free from bias or prejudice, and stand indifferent in the case.'" State v. Ashcraft, 172 W. Va. 640, 647, 309 S.E.2d 600, 607 (1983) ( quoting State v. McMillion, 104 W. Va. 1, 8, 138 S.E. 732, 735 (1927) *overruled on other grounds* State v. Harden, 223 W. Va. 796, 679 S.E.2d 628 (2009)). To that end, this Court has long recognized the process of *voir dire*, meaning "to speak the truth," Michael v. Sabado, 192 W. Va. 585, 592, 453 S.E.2d 419, 426 (1994) as the parties "opportunity to discover[] whether there are any `relevant and material matters that might bear on possible disqualification of a juror.'" *Id.* (quoting Tenpin Lounge, 158 W. Va. at 355, 211 S.E.2d at 353. As we stated in State v. Derr, 192 W. Va. 165, 174, 451 S.E.2d 731, 740 (1994), "[o]ne of the ways this fundamental right [to a fair trial] is achieved is by *voir dire* which allows both the litigants and the trial court to discover any bias or prejudice a juror may harbor." Thus, we have held that

'[t]he official purpose[] of *voir dire* is to elicit information which will establish a basis for challenges for cause and to acquire information that will afford the parties an intelligent exercise of peremptory challenges.' Syl. Pt. 2, in part, Michael, 192 W. Va. 585, 453 S.E.2d 419 (1994).

Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Karl, 222 W. Va. 326, 328, 664 S.E.2d 667, 669(2008). See Ashcraft, 172 W. Va. at 648, 309 S.E.2d at 608. "Clearly, then, a fair trial requires a meaningful and effective [v]oir dire examination." Tenpin Lounge, 158 W. Va. at 355, 211 S.E.2d at 353. State v. Dillinger, 225 W.Va. 736, 740-741 (2010)

In case State v. Miller, the Court stated that "[a]ctual bias can be shown either by a juror's own admission of bias or by proof of specific facts which show the juror has such prejudice or connection with the parties at trial that bias is presumed." Syllabus Point 5, State v. Miller, 197 W. Va. 588, 476 S.E.2d 535 (1996)." Syl. Pt. 1, O'Dell v. Miller, 211 W. Va. 285, 286, 565 S.E.2d 407, 408 (2002). We are particularly mindful that "[t]he process of identifying bias or prejudice, except in clear cases, can be a delicate one where the conclusion is finally drawn from the

totality of the responses." 211 W. Va. at 289, 565 S.E.2d at 411 ( quoting Daniel J. Sheehan, Jr. and Jill C. Adler, *Voir Dire: Knowledge is Power*, 61 Tex. B.J. 630, 634 (1998)). Dillinger at 741.

Juror Collins lied to get on the jury panel which is atypical as a significant percentage of jurors look for ways to get off the panel which really calls into question her motives. As quoted in *Dyer v. Calderon*, "[j]ury service is a civic duty that citizens are expected to perform willingly when called upon to do so. But there is a fine line between being willing to serve and being anxious. . . . The individual who lies in order to improve his chances of service has too much of a stake in the matter to be considered indifferent." *Dyer v. Calderon*, 151 F.3d 970, 982 (9th Cir.) cert. denied, *Calderon v. Dyer*, 525 U.S. 1033, 119 S.Ct. 575, 142 L.Ed.2d 479 (1998). Indeed, "the quality of indifference . . . along with impartiality, is the hallmark of an unbiased juror." *Id.* 151 F.3d 970, 982 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir.) It is clear from the record that Juror Collins had a stake in the outcome of the trial with the web of relationships that existed but were not disclosed on voir dire.

### ***B. Prosecutor's Role in the Misconduct***

The prosecutor's involvement in the alleged misconduct adds an additional layer of complexity and concern. Prosecutors hold a unique position of trust and must adhere to high ethical standards to ensure a fair trial. When a prosecutor is implicated in influencing juror conduct, it undermines the entire trial process. In this case, the prosecutor's role in the misconduct is significant enough to warrant a new trial.

First, Petitioner asserts there is enough evidence to find that the Gilmer County Prosecuting Attorney knew who Juror Carrie Collins was contrary to his written statement to the Court. (App Pg. 29-30) The evidence before the Court is that counsel for Petitioner witnessed a lot of non verbal communication between Juror Carrie Collins and Prosecuting Attorney Gerry Hough as the trial was ongoing, so much communication that it alarmed counsel and he questioned the prosecutor about it as the jury was deliberating and reported it to the judge. (App pg. 24-27)

Juror Carrie Collins worked inside the Gilmer County Courthouse in the tax department for approximately 2 years only five or six years prior to this trial according to Deputy Jones. Additionally, it is known in the county that the Prosecuting Attorney owned a lot of rental real estate for which Juror Carrie Collins handled said property taxes and is the sister of the elected Gilmer County Circuit Clerk Pam Starsick who also worked inside the Courthouse. (App Pg 119 Ln 11 - Pg 121 Ln 5)

Lastly, Juror Carrie Collins was in an extended romantic relationship with long time Gilmer County Sheriff Deputy Casey Jones which was shared on the internet and widely known in

Gilmer County as they resided together for approximately 2 years. (App Pg 52-53, 64-67) Some of the likes on the post from June 10, 2019 were from Jasmin Morton Mohr, an ex clerk for Judge Alsop, Joyce Morton a long time attorney from Webster County and mother to Jasmin, long time CPS worker Robin Meadows and Gilmer County Magistrate Carol Wolfe. (App Pg 64-67) When asked about the likelihood that Prosecutor Gerry Hough did not know Juror Carrie Collins as stated by Prosecutor Hough, Sheriff Deputy Jones stated that “....everybody pretty much knows everybody. It’s a small town.” (App Pg 125 Ln 1-17)

It is very apparent from the non verbal communication between Juror Collins and Prosecutor Hough during trial that they did know each other which is what prompted counsel’s inquiry as contained in the letter written to the judge. (App Pg 24-27) When you combine that with these other family, work and romantic ties with a well known sheriff deputy in Gilmer County, its almost impossible that Prosecutor Hough did not know the identity of Juror Carrie Collins contrary to his written statement to the court. In addition, Prosecutor Hough stated in his response that Petitioner’s counsel received the jury questionnaires and with due diligence would have known the background of Juror Carrie Collins but he received the same list, worked with her in the same building in Gilmer County but claims he did not know who she was in fact which is hard to believe. (App Pg 29-30)

### ***C. Clerk's Inappropriate Behavior and Non-disclosure***

The role of the court clerk is often overlooked but is critical for ensuring a fair trial. In this instance, the court clerk had participated in the misconduct alleged that was witnessed during the trial that significantly impact the proceedings. The clerk's failure to disclose her close family relationship with Juror Carrie Collins is contrary to the purpose of voir dire and allowing her sister, Juror Carrie Collins, to continue to conceal relationships with each witness compounds the misconduct.

This concealment prevented Petitioner from adequately weighing her impartiality or bias in the matter. The concealed of this close personal relationship and resulting behavior did impact the jury trial as alleged by Petitioner’s counsel in the letter to Judge Alsop. (App Pg. 24-27) The Clerk failed to perform her sworn duties as an officer of the Court as she not only participated in her sister’s attempt to make a mockery of the trial but allowed her sister to mislead Petitioner and Petitioner’s counsel by not correcting the record when she was aware of her sister’s failure to answer questions truthfully during voir dire.

Obviously, the Clerk knew that her sister, Juror Carrie Collins, had an immediate family member involved in law enforcement since Clerk Starsick is married to a WV State Trooper and all parties reside in Gilmer County. Additionally, Clerk Starsick knew that her sister had been employed with DHHR and worked with Jennifer Godfrey, and that her sister was friendly with

the investigating officer WV Trooper R.P. Smith who works for same agency as her husband. Evidence obtained from Facebook show that Brandy Sims and Clerk Starsick were also friendly on Facebook even conversing on a post made by Brandy Sims so its fair to infer that Clerk Starsick knew that her sister, Juror Carrie Collins, was friends with Brandy Sims. (App Pg 68-74) The Facebook exhibit involving the choosing of the baby name Madeline was commented on by Clerk Starsick as Madeline was the name of the Brandy Sims' grandmother. (App Pg. 73-74, Pg 150 Ln 12 - Pg. 151 Ln 23) Brandy Sims freely admitted that she knows their family as she grew up not too far down the road from Pam Starsick and Carrie Collins, "...I grew up not too far down the road from them. I don't know her personally but I do know her. I know the family. This is a small county." (App Pg 150 Ln 12 – 21)

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