IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 23-513

**SCA EFiled: Jan 22 2024
06:04PM EST
Transaction ID 71849638**

TINA M. FRYMYER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**Spencer J. Davenport (WV Bar # 14364)
Assistant Solicitor General
State Capitol Complex
Building 1, Room E-26
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Spencer.J.Davenport@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-2021
Facsimile: (304) 558-0140**

***Counsel for Respondent
State of West Virginia***

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Juror Collins did not engage in misconduct. She accurately answered a question probing whether she had immediate family in law enforcement. Her brother-in-law was not immediate family. Petitioner could have asked questions about more distant family connections during voir dire, but she did not. In any event, nothing in the record suggests that the answer was given dishonestly, even if a brother-in-law could constitute immediate family. And even if the answer were problematic, Petitioner has not established that the correct answer would have given her a basis to challenge Juror Collins for cause.

Juror Collins had no improper or undisclosed relationships with other persons involved in the case. Minimal social media contacts do not evince a close relationship. A passing acquaintance with the investigating officer is not enough to justify a new trial. Similarly, working years ago with a witness did not create a relationship that needed to be disclosed. And teaching a witness in summer school when the witness was five years old did not cement a close relationship that needed to be disclosed in voir dire.

It also was not error to allow Juror Collins to sit on the jury when her sister was the circuit clerk. Given the nature of the circuit clerk's role, relationship would be unlikely to affect the result in any way. And again, Petitioner could have asked about such relationships in voir dire. She did not.

II. No prosecutorial misconduct occurred here. The facts in the record support the notion that no misbehavior was happening between jurors in the box and the prosecutor's team. Petitioner invites this Court to speculate that the prosecutor must have been lying about who he knew at the trial and on the jury, but speculation is not sufficient to warrant a new trial.

III. The circuit court clerk also acted appropriately. The circuit clerk had no duty to volunteer the information about which the Petitioner now complains. She did not conceal anything at any time. And the evidence suggests she behaved professionally—and certainly not so *un*professionally that her behavior would have swayed the jurors’ decision.

IV. The circuit court was not biased. Petitioner often complains about rightful decisions that the circuit court made. He also suggests that the circuit court should have allowed him to conduct a more sweeping “investigation,” including the examination of some of the jurors. But the circumstances here didn’t compel the circuit court to probe further, as Petitioner largely offered spurious allegations with little support in either the facts or the law.

V. Cumulative error does not justify dismissing the indictment. No errors happened here, let alone multiple errors. And even if the Court were to disagree, then the correct remedy would be a new trial—not dismissal of the indictment outright.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Under West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court “review[s] the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard.” *State v. Dellinger*, 225 W. Va. 736, 740, 696 S.E.2d 38, 42 (2010). This Court “review[s] the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard.” *Id.* Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Id.* If a circuit court determines that a juror falsely answered a question during voir dire, “whether or not a new trial should be awarded is within the sound discretion of the trial

court.” Syl. pt. 3, *W. Va. Hum. Rts. Comm’n v. Tenpin Lounge, Inc.*, 158 W. Va. 349, 211 S.E.2d 349 (1975).

ARGUMENT

I. Juror Collins Did Not Engage In Misconduct.

Petitioner maintains that Juror Collins engaged in misconduct because she purportedly lied about relationships she had with various people having some connection with the case. Although Petitioner believes these supposed relationships implicate the sort of juror misconduct seen in *Remmer v. United States*, 347 U.S. 227 (1954), they do not. *Remmer* addresses “private communication, contact, or tampering directly or indirectly, with a juror during a trial about the matter pending before the jury.” *Id.* at 229. But Petitioner’s allegations do not involve these kinds of “extraneous influences.” *Remmer v. United States*, 350 U.S. 377, 382 (1956). Instead, Petitioner really asserts classic juror-bias claims. *See, e.g., Fields v. Brown*, 503 F.3d 755, 775 & n.14 (9th Cir. 2007) (explaining how relationships giving rise to bias and contacts during trial creating extraneous influences on the jury are “analytically distinct”); *see also, e.g., Commonwealth v. Guisti*, 747 N.E.2d 673, 681 (Mass. 2001) (“[J]uror bias is not an extraneous matter.”); *United States v. Barnett*, No. 97-3091, 1998 WL 203122 (D.C. Cir. Apr. 8, 1998) (“Mere juror bias and opinions expressing such bias do not amount to extraneous evidence that casts the legitimacy of the verdict into doubt.”).

This Court gives “special deference to the trial court’s decision of juror bias because of its broad discretion in this area.” *State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 605, 476 S.E.2d 535, 552 (1996). The challenging party bears the burden of showing that a juror was partial. Syl. pt. 5, *State v. White*, 228 W. Va. 530, 722 S.E.2d 566 (2011). “An appellate court only should interfere with a trial court’s discretionary ruling on a juror’s qualification to serve because of bias only when it is left with a clear and definite impression that a prospective juror would be unable faithfully and

impartially to apply the law.” *Id.* And relatedly, “[i]n a criminal case, the inquiry made of a jury on its *voir dire* is within the sound discretion of the trial court and not subject to review, except when the discretion is clearly abused.” Syl. pt. 3, *State ex rel. Parker v. Keadle*, 235 W. Va. 631, 776 S.E.2d 133 (2015). Likewise, the circuit court has “discretion on the question of whether a new trial should be granted because of false answers given by a prospective juror on such examination.” *Tenpin Lounge, Inc.*, 158 W. Va. at 358, 211 S.E.2d at 354.

Especially considering these deferential standards, the circuit court did not err in concluding that Juror Collins was not biased and did not engage in misconduct.

A. Juror Collins did not lie about having immediate family that were law-enforcement officers.

Throughout her brief, Petitioner notes that Juror Collins’s sister was married to a West Virginia State Police trooper, Oakey Starsick, who was not directly involved in the case. Merely being related to a law-enforcement officer is not a *per se* ground to disqualify a juror in West Virginia. *See* syl. pt. 6, *State v. Beckett*, 172 W. Va. 81 310 S.E.2d 883 (1983); *see also, e.g., State v. Hardway*, 182 W. Va. 1, 385 S.E.2d 62 (1989). Indeed, the Court has said that jurors with all kinds of relationships with law enforcement needn’t be stricken—including relationships by marriage. *See State v. Mills*, 221 W. Va. 283, 287–88, 654 S.E.2d 605, 609-10 (2007) (collecting authorities). So Petitioner tries to establish that Juror Collins should have been disqualified because she *lied* about the relationship. But the record shows otherwise.

Remember that the court asked only whether any juror had a “member[] of [his or her] immediate family” who was “employed as a law enforcement officer.” App. 12. Thus, the first question is whether Juror Collins truthfully answered that question.

Juror Collins truthfully and correctly answered “no” to the circuit court’s question during *voir dire* because a brother-in-law is not commonly understood to constitute immediate family.

Take the West Virginia Code, for example. Over and over, statutes define “immediate family” and “immediate family members” in ways that exclude brothers-in-law. *See, e.g.*, W. Va. Code §§ 3-12-3, 61-10-32. Federal laws say much the same. *See, e.g.*, 26 U.S.C. § 9035(b). Ordinary dictionary definitions do, too. *See, e.g.*, *Black’s Law Dictionary* (11th ed. 2019) (defining “immediate family” as “[a] person’s parents, spouse, children, and siblings, as well as those of the person’s spouse”); *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, <https://bit.ly/48ItDXg> (lasted visited Jan. 22, 2024) (“[A] person’s parents, brothers and sisters, husband or wife, and children”). Likewise, no West Virginia court has extended the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress—which arises from witnessing outrageous conduct committed on a member of a person’s “immediate family,” *Courtney v. Courtney*, 186 W. Va. 597, 601, 413 S.E.2d 418, 422 (1991)—to an in-law relationship like this one. And other courts have also understood that “immediate family” addresses the “most restrictive” form of family—a form that does not include brothers-in-law. *In re Marriage of Gerleman*, 430 P.3d 467, 473 (Kan. Ct. App. 2018); *see also, e.g.*, *Thompson v. Dhaiti*, 959 N.Y.S.2d 522, 523 (N.Y. App. Div. 2013) (holding that a stepdaughter was not “immediate family” for purposes of tort action). In short, because the question was “expressly limited” to immediate family, Juror Collins correctly answered it. *Pleasants v. All. Corp.*, 209 W. Va. 39, 43, 543 S.E.2d 320, 324 (2000).

If Petitioner thought that even the most tenuous familial connections to law enforcement justified a juror’s removal for cause (or the use of a peremptory strike), then her counsel could have explored those relationships in his own voir dire. But Petitioner’s counsel instead chose to ask only four generic questions about the jurors’ understandings of their responsibilities. App. 17. None of them concerned relationships or connections to anyone, let alone law enforcement. Having failed to probe the issue, Petitioner cannot now be heard to complain that Juror Collins

correctly answered the questions that *were* asked. *See Billings v. Polk*, 441 F.3d 238, 245 (4th Cir. 2006) (finding that no basis to grant a new trial “where a juror innocently fails to disclose information that might have been elicited by questions counsel did not ask”); *cf. State v. Bongalis*, 180 W. Va. 584, 591, 378 S.E.2d 449, 456 (1989) (“[T]he failure to ask voir dire questions relative to statutory or common law grounds for disqualification of jurors constitutes lack of diligence, and forecloses utilizing such disqualification to attack the jury verdict.”).

Even if it could be said that a brother-in-law is “immediate family,” Juror Collins’s answer otherwise would not establish that she acted dishonestly. And that element of dishonesty is key. “To invalidate the result of ... trial because of a juror’s mistaken, though honest response to a question, is to insist on something closer to perfection than our judicial system can be expected to give.” *McDonough Power Equip., Inc. v. Greenwood*, 464 U.S. 548, 555 (1984). After all, jurors “cannot be expected invariably to express themselves carefully or even consistently.” *Skilling v. United States*, 561 U.S. 358, 397 (2010). Petitioner needs to find some evidence that the juror *intentionally* lied or misled before she can assume bias from the failure to disclose. *See State v. Dennis*, 216 W. Va. 331, 349, 607 S.E.2d 437, 455 (2004) (“[M]otives for concealing information may vary, but only those reasons that affect a juror’s impartiality can truly be said to affect the fairness of a trial.”). Here, Petitioner has not given the Court any reason to believe that Juror Collins’s answer was anything more than an honest mistake about what constitutes “family.” (Again, the better reading of the record is that it was not even mistaken.)

Lastly, even if Petitioner had shown that Juror Collins failed to honestly answer a material question during voir dire, she would still need to “show that a correct response would have provided a valid basis for a challenge for cause.” *Dennis*, 216 W. Va. at 349, 607 S.E.2d at 455; *see also Belcher v. Dynamic Energy, Inc.*, 240 W. Va. 391, 400, 813 S.E.2d 44, 53 (2018). She

has not even tried to do so—nor could she. Nothing suggests that the distant in-law relationship here affected the jury’s deliberations. Juror Collins confirmed that she would reach her decisions fairly and based on the evidence. *See, e.g., State v. Gillispie*, No. 11-0478, 2012 WL 3030862, at *4 (W. Va. June 13, 2012) (memorandum decision) (finding that juror could not be presumed to be biased where she answered general question about fairness affirmatively). And given that Trooper Starsick was not even involved in the case, her assurances seem especially reasonable.

B. Juror Collins did not have a close relationship with any of the witnesses.

Petitioner also argues that Juror Collins “failed to disclose close relationships she had to almost every witness in the case.” Pet’r’s Br. 7. Here again, Petitioner seems to suggest at times that the mere existence of relationships is enough to establish juror bias and the need for relief. If that were the right rule, then trials in small, tightknit communities might become next to impossible. But thankfully, that has never been the rule in West Virginia. In *State v. Satterfield*, 193 W. Va. 503, 514, 457 S.E.2d 440, 451 (1995), for example, a prospective juror was a “good friend of four key State witnesses, a friend of the victim and the victim’s daughter, ... knew some of the facts of the case from two people who discovered the body of the victim[,] ... [and] knew the appellant’s family.” Despite those many connections, the Court concluded that the juror was qualified to serve. *Id.*; *see also, e.g., State v. Wade*, 174 W. Va. 381, 385, 327 S.E.2d 142, 147 (1985) (finding no error in the court’s refusal to strike jurors with multiple relationships with witnesses and prosecutor).

Generally speaking, rather than disqualifying any juror with a relationship, the Court has asked whether evidence in the record establishes actual bias or a close social relationship that is “sufficient to preclude the juror from arriving at a fair verdict.” *State v. Foster*, 221 W. Va. 629, 643, 656 S.E.2d 74, 88 (2007). And other than vague allegations of courtroom behavior, Petitioner

never even tries to allege actual bias arising from Juror Collins's supposed relationships with these witnesses.

So the question becomes whether Juror Collins was so close with any of these witnesses that bias must be presumed. Or, as the circuit court put it, the Court must ask whether Juror Collins was actually "related by blood or connected by marriage" or "[c]lose personal friends" with the witnesses. App. 11. (Neither the Court nor Petitioner's counsel ever asked if any of the jurors merely *knew* any of the witnesses.) Parsing each relationship individually shows that Juror Collins correctly answered that she had no such relationship with any of the witnesses.

To begin with, Petitioner likely places too much weight on social media contacts across the board. Petitioner's counsel did not ask about social media during voir dire. Yet now, Petitioner repeatedly suggests that even the most minimal of contacts through social media equates to a close friendship. Petitioner is wrong. "It is now common knowledge that merely being friends on Facebook does not, *per se*, establish a close relationship from which bias or partiality on the part of a juror may reasonably be presumed." *McGaha v. Commonwealth*, 414 S.W.3d 1, 6 (Ky. 2013); *see also Sluss v. Commonwealth*, 381 S.W.3d 215, 217 (Ky. 2012). Many other courts have said much the same. *See, e.g., Slaybaugh v. State*, 44 N.E.3d 111, 111 (Ind. Ct. App. 2015), *aff'd*, 47 N.E.3d 607 (Ind. 2016); *State v. Webster*, 865 N.W.2d 223, 226 (Iowa 2015); *State v. Madden*, No. M2012-02473-CCA-R3-CD, 2014 WL 931031, at *1 (Tenn. Crim. App. Mar. 11, 2014); *W.G.M. v. State*, 140 So. 3d 491, 493 (Ala. Crim. App. 2013). This Court, too, has declined to find juror bias when jurors had social media contact with other persons involved in the case. *See State v. Miller*, No. 21-0378, 2022 WL 856614, at *5 (W. Va. Mar. 23, 2022) (memorandum decision) (Facebook "friends"); *Evans v. Bluefield Hosp. Co.*, No. 17-1090, 2018 WL 6016028, at *4 (W. Va. Nov. 16, 2018) (memorandum decision) (Facebook "like" and birthday wish). In an

age when many people have hundreds of these connections, and when even a fleeting real-world interaction can give rise to a “friendship” on social media, courts cannot assume that linking or liking is enough to constitutionally disqualify a juror.

Social media aside, Petitioner has established no kind of problematic relationship with any of the persons involved here.

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